L

64739-1

2013 MAR |

NO. 69739-1-I

#### COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURTNEY ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

FOOTBALL NORTHWEST, LLC.,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

William D. Hochberg WSBA # 13510 Sara R. Smith WSBA# 26374 222 Third Avenue North Edmonds, WA 98020 (425) 744-1220

# ORIGINAL

##

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- The superior court erred in finding that Mr. Robinson did not have an employment contract, either explicit or implied, with the Seattle Seahawks for purposes of the Industrial Insurance Act. Clerk's Papers [hereinafter CP] at 45-47 *citing* Finding of Fact No. 5, No. 7, No. 9, No. 10, No. 11, No. 13, No. 15, and No. 22.
- The superior court erred in finding that the Seahawks did not pay Mr. Robinson wages pursuant to RCW 51.08.178. CP at 46 *citing* Finding of Fact No. 16.
- 3. The superior court erred in finding that the Seahawks did not gain any benefit or value through Mr. Robinson's participation in the mini-camp tryout. CP at 46 *citing* Finding of Fact No. 20.
- 4. The superior court erred in finding that Mr. Robinson was not an employee of the Seahawks under RCW 51.08.180. CP at 47 *citing* Conclusion of Law No. 2.
- The superior court erred in finding that Mr. Robinson was not in the course of employment under RCW 51.08.013, when he was injured on April 13, 2010 while participating in the Seahawks' mini-camp tryout. CP at 47 *citing* Conclusion of Law No. 3.
- The superior court erred in finding that Mr. Robinson did not sustain an industrial injury within the meaning of RCW 51.08.100. CP at 47 *citing* Conclusion of Law No. 4.
- 7. The superior court erred in finding that RCW 51.08.178 is not applicable to the facts in this case. CP at 47 *citing* Conclusions of Law No. 5.

#### ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. Has Mr. Robinson demonstrated that he is was an employee of the Seahawks and covered under the Industrial Insurance Act by presenting evidence that showed: (1) the Seahawks exercised an extreme degree of control over Mr. Robinson's movements while he was in Seattle at the Seahawks' invitation; (2) he received wages under RCW 51.08.178; (3) the mini-camp exposed Mr. Robinson to a high degree of risk; (4) Mr. Robinson's participation in the mini-camp provided a benefit to the Seahawks; and (5) an implied contract for workers' compensation purposes existed between the parties?

2. Has Mr. Robinson demonstrated that public policy behind the Industrial Insurance Act requires a finding that an injury during a try-out period is covered when that injury flows directly from employment activities or conditions?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Courtney Robinson is a former football player who played defensive back in college and was injured while participating in a minicamp for the self-insured employer, Football Northwest d.b.a. the Seattle Seahawks. The mini-camp took place in Renton, Washington from April 13-15, 2010. Testimony of John Idzik, p. 18. Participation in this minicamp was by invitation only. Testimony of Courtney Robinson, p. 49. The purpose of the mini-camp was to fill open spots on the team. *Id.* At the time that Mr. Robinson was invited to the mini-camp, there was an opening on the roster for a defensive back. Robinson, p. 24

Prior to extending an invitation to free agents, the Seahawks' team scouts extensively evaluate prospective players. Idzik p. 6. If an opening arises, the scouts recommend a player who fits the team's need at that time. *Id.* An invitation to a mini-camp is then extended. There are two types of mini-camp invitations: a visit and a tryout. Idzik, p. 7. A visit consists of just a physical exam and an interview. *Id.* A tryout involves a physical exam and an interview, as well as fieldwork and physical drills. *Id.* Unlike a mini-camp visit, the mini-camp tryout involves a risk of injury. Idzik, p. 28.

The Seahawks extended an offer to Mr. Robinson to attend their mini-camp and tryout for a defensive back position on their team. Robinson, p. 30. After Mr. Robinson accepted the Seahawks' offer, the Seahawks made arrangements to host Mr. Robinson during the mini-camp. *Id.* Mr. Robinson was flown to Seattle, driven to the hotel, lodged in the hotel, driven to and from the Seahawks' facility and provided with meals, all at the expense of the Seahawks. *Id.* at 30-31. Mr. Robinson was provided with a highly detailed itinerary, which dictated how he would spend his time in Seattle, both during the minicamp as well as during his off-hours. *Id.* at 33.

Prior to participating in the mini-camp, Mr. Robinson was interviewed by the Seahawks and given a physical examination by the Seahawks' team doctor. Robinson, p. 31-32. After completing the interview and passing the physical examination, Mr. Robinson was asked to participate in a variety of tryout exercises and to

demonstrate his skills. Robinson, p. 36. Before performing these drills at the Seahawks' facility, the Seahawks provided Mr. Robinson with all the equipment he needed for the tryout. Robinson, p. 31.

The defense back drills, which Mr. Robinson was participating in, were conducted by the Seahawks' Head Coach, Pete Carroll. Robinson, p. 36. As Coach Carroll threw the ball during a drill, Mr. Robinson, who was part of the drill, caught his foot in the ground, injuring his knee. Robinson, p. 36. The Seahawks put him on the sidelines with ice on his knee for the remainder of the practice, after which the Seahawks took him to the team's trainer for medical evaluation. Robinson, p. 40. Mr. Robinson later rejoined the rest of the players for dinner, where the Seahawks informed him they were cancelling his tryout and sending him home that night. Robinson, p. 42. Even though Mr. Robinson had been scheduled to stay through April 15th and was in a great deal of pain, the Seahawks told him that he would be dropped off at the hotel where he was to gather his things and fly home that night. Robinson, p. 42-43. The Seahawks arranged for a change in his flight schedule as well as transportation to the airport. Robinson, p. 44.

I.

On June 7, 2010, Mr. Robinson filed an application for workers' compensation benefits for the injury to his right knee. The Department of Labor and Industries denied his claim on July 20, 2010, on the basis that Mr. Robinson was not an employee of the Seahawks at the time of his injury. Mr. Robinson timely protested this decision, which was affirmed on October 1, 2010. Mr. Robinson appealed the Department's decision to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. The IAJ affirmed the Department's Order of October 1, 2010, and the Board subsequently denied Mr. Robinson's Petition for Review on October 7, 2011.

Mr. Robinson appealed the Board's decision to the King County Superior Court where a trial was held before the Honorable Judge Regina Cahan on October 19, 2012. Judge Cahan upheld the Board's decision and entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, as well as Judgment in this matter on October 29, 2012. Mr. Robinson timely filed an appeal of Judge Cahan's decision to this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is substantial evidence, case law and public policy consideration to support the finding that Mr. Robinson should be considered an employee of the Seattle Seahawks for workers'

compensation purposes. During his tryout with the Seahawks, the evidence shows: (1) the Seahawks exercised complete control over Mr. Robinson's actions; (2) Mr. Robinson received wages under RCW 51.08.178; (3) the mini-camp tryout exposed Mr. Robinson to a high degree of risk; (4) Mr. Robinson's participation in the tryout provided a benefit to the Seahawks; and (5) an implied contract for workers' compensation purposes existed between the parties.

Additionally, Washington State case law interpreting RCW 51.08.180, specifically the decisions of *In Re: Kimberly J. Bemis*, BIIA Dec. 90 5522 (1992) (Significant Decision) and *Clausen v. Dept' of Labor & Industries*, 15 Wn.2d 62, 29 P.2d 777 (1942) as well as the liberal mandate espoused in *Harry v. Buse Timber Sales, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 1, 201 P.3d 1011 (2009) support a finding that Mr. Robinson is a covered injured worker.

Finally, case law from other jurisdictions including Alaska and California, as well as public policy considerations set out in *Larson's Workers' Compensation Law Volume 2*, support a finding that an injury during a tryout period is covered under workers' compensation laws when that injury flows directly from employment activities or conditions.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

RCW 51.52.110 and RCW 51.52.115 govern judicial review of

matters arising under the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.52.115 states:

The hearing in the superior court shall be de novo, but the court shall not receive evidence or testimony other than, or in addition to, that offered before the board or included in the record filed by the board in the superior court as provided in RCW 51.52.110.... In all court proceedings under or pursuant to this title the findings and decision of the board shall be prima facie correct and the burden of proof shall be upon the party attaching the same. If the court shall determine that the board has acted within its power and has correctly construed the law and found the facts, the decision of the board shall be confirmed....

Judicial review in the Court of Appeals is governed by RCW 51.52.140 which provides an "[a]ppeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases." *Du Pont v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 46 Wn.App. 471, 476, 730 P.2d 1345 (1986). Therefore, it follows that this Court "must determine whether the trial court's findings [...] are supported by substantial evidence and whether the conclusions of law flow therefrom." *Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 51 Wn.App. 159, 162, 752 P.2d 381 (1988).

The Court of Appeals reviews the superior court's decision in a workers' compensation appeal *de novo* to determine whether substantial evidence supports its findings and whether its conclusions of law flow from the findings. "Substantial evidence" is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of a matter. *Ferencak* v. *Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.App. 713, 175 P.3d 1109 (2008).

The appellate court may substitute its own judgment for that of the agency regarding issues of law. *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5-6, 977 P.2d 570 (1999). While the court may defer to an agency's interpretation of a statute, such an interpretation is not binding. *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 813, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). It is the providence of the judicial branch to say what the law is and to determine the purpose and meaning of statutes. *Id.* Statutory interpretation is a question of law and, as such, is reviewed *de novo. Id.* at 807. In reviewing a statute, the primary goal is to carry out the legislative intent behind the statute. *Id. (citing Rozner v. City of Bellevue*, 116 Wn.2d 342, 347, 804 P.2d 24 (1991)).

The Industrial Insurance Act (IIA), Title 51 RCW, was designed to provide "sure and certain relief" to injured workers while limiting employer liability for industrial injuries. *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indust.*, 109 Wn.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). "Any doubts or ambiguities in the language of the IIA must be resolved in favor of the injured worker in order to minimize 'the suffering and economic loss' that may result from work related injuries." *Harry v. Buse Timber Sales*, 166 Wn.2d 1, 9, 201 P.3d 1011 (2009), *citing McIndoe v. Dep't of Labor &* 

*Indus.*, 144 Wn.2d 252, 256, 26 P.3d 903 (2001) and *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) "('Where reasonable minds can differ over what Title 51 RCW provisions mean..., the benefit of the doubt belongs to the injured worker.')" In this matter, the facts are not in substantial dispute. Rather, this case involves questions of law and policy operating upon established facts.

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. The superior court erred in denying Mr. Robinson's appeal because it failed to find that Mr. Robinson was an employee of the Seahawks for purposes of the Industrial Insurance Act.

The Industrial Insurance Act "shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010. The Washington State Supreme Court recently affirmed this mandate in *Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc.*, holding that "any ambiguity in the language of the [Industrial Insurance Act] must be resolved in favor of the injured worker." *Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 1, 9, 201 P.3d 1011 (2009).

The employer-employee relationship is defined by statute, *see* RCW 51.08.180-195 (defining "worker" and "employee"), and further

clarified by case law. Although Mr. Robinson did not sign a standard National Football League (NFL) player contract prior to attending the mini-camp, that fact does not mean he was not an employee for purposes of workers' compensation. This is because under workers' compensation law, an employment contract may be either express or implied. *Clausen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 15 Wn.2d 62, 69, 29 P.2d 777 (1942) and *In re Kimberly J. Bemis*, BIIA Dec. 90 5522 (1992) (Significant Decision).

In *Clausen*, the claimant died while cutting timber pursuant to a county permit that allowed needy families to cut timber within an area that was to be cleared for an airport. *Clausen*, 15 Wn.2d at 65. Mr. Clausen was not paid for his work, the hours he worked were not tracked, and he had to use his own tools. The only benefit Mr. Clausen received was the wood itself, which he could carry home at his own expense. *Id.* at 67. The Washington Supreme Court held that Mr. Clausen was not an employee of the county and thus was not entitled to workers' compensation, stating the following non-dispositive factors in considering whether an employee/employer relationship exists: (1) the right to control and discharge; (2) payment of wages; and (3) the contractual relationship, whether express or implied. *Id.* at 69. The Court gave particular weight to the degree of control the county held over Mr. Clausen, which was very

little. Once the county issued a permit, the interaction between the parties ceased. *Id.* at 66.

The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (BIIA) looked to these same *Clausen* factors in the Significant Decision *In re Kimberly J. Bemis*, where the Board had to decide the very issue in the present case: whether an individual injured in a pre-employment testing program is an employee for workers' compensation purposes. In *Bemis*, the Board relied on the following elements: "the right of control and discharge, payment of wages, and the contractual relationship, whether express or implied." *Bemis* at 11.

#### 1. <u>Control</u>

In *Bemis*, the claimant willingly applied to be a flight attendant and in order to be considered for hire, Ms. Bemis was required to participate in Alaska Airlines' training program. *Bemis* at 3. Although attendance was compulsory, participation in the program did not guarantee employment with the airline. *Id.* However, if Ms. Bemis did not participate in or complete the program, she would not be hired. *Id.* Once in the program, the prospective employer had control of her activities, from the schedule that was set to the tasks that she was to perform. Absence from the course, even for a medical reason, was grounds for summary dismissal.

Id.

The Bemis case is similar to that in Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeals Bd., 6 Cal.3d 771, 494 P.2d 1 (1972), where the claimant participated in an agility test as part of a tryout for the position of refuse crew worker and was injured. Although the claimant willingly applied for the job and participated in the tryout, the court still found that the employer exercised a degree of control over the claimant such that an employer/employee relationship formed. The court held that an applicant at a tryout was also in the service of an employer, "for during the tryout the applicant subjects himself to the employer's control, and the employer, in turn, assumes responsibility for directing the applicant's activities." Laeng, 6 Cal.3d 771, at 782. The court noted "the control exercised by the employer in this context parallels the degree of control that is frequently identified as the hallmark of the employment relationship" and "when the employer uses this control or authority to direct an applicant to undertake an arduous or potentially hazardous tryout task...the situation exhibits the coalescence of both the 'service' of the applicant and the 'benefit' to the employer." Id.

In the instant case, Mr. Robinson was scouted by the Seahawks and invited to attend the mini-camp tryout when a position for a defensive back became open. In order to have an opportunity to be employed by the Seahawks, attendance at this mini-camp was compulsory. As part of the

mini-camp, the Seahawks selected the flight Mr. Robinson took, the airline on which he flew, the hotel he stayed in, the days he was to attend the camp, the car service that would transport him, the food he was going to eat, and a strict itinerary dictating where he needed to be and when. Prior to his tryout, the Seahawks' team doctor examined Mr. Robinson. During his tryout, he was provided with Seahawk equipment, told what drills to perform, and when injured, was treated by a team doctor. Shortly after his injury, Mr. Robinson was told that he needed to check out of his hotel and leave that same night, even though he had been originally scheduled to stay another day. Although Mr. Robinson asked that he be allowed to remain as he was in a great deal of pain, the Seahawks changed his flight and he was ordered to leave that night.

As in *Bemis* and *Laeng*, other than the decision to participate in the tryout in the hopes of securing a position with the team, Mr. Robinson had no control over his person from the time that he stepped on the plane to fly to Seattle. Additionally, even after his tryout was over, the Seahawks continued to exert control over him, insisting he leave the city at it's request and refusing to pay for another night in the hotel. This is the same control that was exerted in *Bemis* and more than sufficient to meet the *Clausen* standard of control.

#### 2. Wages

Under RCW 51.08.178, "the term 'wages' shall include the reasonable value of board, housing, fuel, or other consideration of like nature." The seminal case on this issue is *Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 142 Wn.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001), where health care benefits were recognized as "wages" for purposes of workers' compensation law, making it clear "wages" do not have to be purely monetary. Thus, as a matter of both statute and case law, the meals, lodging, on-site medical care and transportation the Seahawks provided to Mr. Robinson constituted "wages" as defined by RCW 51.08.178. Idzik, at 19.

The compensation Mr. Robinson received from the Seahawks is virtually identical to that received by the claimant in *Bemis*. Like Mr. Robinson, Ms. Bemis did not receive wages and like Mr. Robinson, she did receive room and board during the training session. The only difference is that while Mr. Robinson's meals were provided by the Seahawks, Ms. Bemis received an \$8.00 per diem to pay for lunch. To argue that this per diem is somehow different from the provision of meals is a distinction without a difference. Under the workers' compensation wage statute, Mr. Robinson received compensation from the Seahawks in consideration for participating in the mini-camp. The Superior Court erred by not finding this compensation constituted wages under the statute.

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