Case No. 69739-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, and FOOTBALL NORTHWEST, LLC,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT FOOTBALL NORTHWEST, LLC

Craig K. Connors, WSBA No. 24054 Attorneys for Respondent, Football Northwest, LLC BAUER MOYNIHAN & JOHNSON, LLP 2101 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2400 Seattle, Washington 98121 Telephone: 206-443-3400 Facsimile: 206-448-9076

E-mail: craigkconnors@bmjlaw.com

1.	INTRODUCTION
II.	ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 1
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	A. Undisputed Facts
	B. Procedural History
IV.	ARGUMENT 3
	A. Summary of Argument
	B. Standard of Review
	C. Substantial Evidence Supports the Findings of Fact7
	D. Robinson Was Not an Employee of the Seahawks 21
	E. Robinson Fails to Satisfy His Own Test32
V.	CONCLUSION 50

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

BBC Brown Boveri v. Lusk,
108 Or.App. 623, 816 P.2d 1183 (1991)4
Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.App. 853, 86 P.3d 826, rev. den., 152 Wn.2d 1031 (2004)
Berry v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 45 Wn.App. 883, 729 P.2d 63 (1986)
Boyd v. City of Montgomery, 515 So. 2d 6, 7 (Ala. Civ. App. 1987)49
Bugryn v. State, 97 Conn. App. 324, 904 A.2d 269 (2006)
Cantu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 168 Wn.App. 14, 277 P.3d 685 (2012)
Childs v. Kalgin Island Lodge, 779 P.2d 310 (Alaska 1989)
Clausen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 15 Wn.2d 62, 129 P.2d 777 (1942)22-23, 25, 33-35, 40-41
Cluff v. Nana-Marriott, 892 P.2d 164 (Alaska 1995)50
Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)
Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)8
Cust-O-Fab v. Bohon, 876 P.2d 736 (OK Civ. App. 1994)

Doty v. Town of S. Prairie,
155 Wn.2d 527, 120 P.3d 941 (2005)37-39
Dykes v. State Acc. Ins. Fund,
47 Or. App. 187, 613 P.2d 1106 (1980)49
Garrett Freightlines, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
45 Wn.App. 335, 725 P.2d 463 (1986)5-0
Hubbard v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
198 Wn. 354 (1939)
In Re: Chris J. Thrush,
BIIA Dec. 09 21463 (2010)
In Re: Darlene R. Cate,
BIIA Dec. 00 20324, (2002), aff'd sub. nom., Cate v. Laidlaw Transit
Inc., 117 Wash. App. 1068 (2003) (unpublished) 29-32, 38, 42
In Re: David C. Boyles,
BIIA Dec. 98 12803 (1999)
In re Kimberly J. Bemis,
BIIA Dec. 90 5522 (1992)
In Re: Richard A. Parsons,
BIIA Dec. 95 5039 (1997)
Jenkins v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of the State of Wash.,
85 Wn.App. 7, 931 P.2d 907 (1996)
Jones v. City of Olympia,
171 Wn.App. 614, 287 P.3d 687 (2012)

Joy v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 170 Wn.App. 614, 285 P.3d 187 (2012), rev. den., 2013 WL 830001 (2013)
Laeng v. Workmen's Comp. Appeal Bd., 6 Cal.3d 771, 494 P.2d 1 (1972)
Leslie v. Sch. Services & Leasing, Inc., 947 S.W.2d 97 (Mo. Ct. App. 1997)49
Lotspeich v. Chance Vought Aircraft, 369 S.W.2d 705 (Tex. Ct. App. 1963)
Mansfield Enterprises, Inc. v. Warren, 154 Ga. App. 863, 270 S.E.2d 72 (1980)
Moore v. Gundelfinger, 56 Mich. App. 73, 223 N.W.2d 643 (1974) 42-43, 46-47
Moreman v. Butcher, 126 Wn.2d 36, 891 P.2d 725 (1995)
Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn.App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011)
Novenson v. Spokane Culvert & Fabricating Co, 91 Wn.2d 550, 588 P.2d 1174 (1979)23-24, 27-28, 32-33, 35, 40, 43, 48, 50
Rastaetter v. Charles S. Wilson Mem'l Hosp., 436 N.Y.S.2d 47, 80 A.D.2d 608 (1981)
Rideau v. Cort Furniture Rental, 110 Wn.App. 301, 39 P.3d 1006 (2002)

Ridgeview Properties v. Starbuck,
96 Wn.2d 716, 638 P.2d 1231
Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
151 Wn.App. 174, 210 P.3d 355 (2009)5-6
Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999)
Sellers v. City of Abbeville,
458 So. 2d 592 (La. Ct. App. 1984), writ den., 462 So. 2d 1248 (La. 1985)
Smick v. Burnup & Sims,
35 Wn.App. 276, 666 P.2d 926 (1983)
Smith v. Adler's Millinery,
122 N.J.L. 236, 237, 4 A.2d 782 (Sup. Ct. 1939)
Smith v. Venezian Lamp Co.,
168 N.Y.S.2d 764, 5 A.D.2d 12 (1957) 42, 43-44, 47-49
Scott R. Sonners, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
101 Wn.App. 350, 3 P.3d 756 (2000)
State v. Niedergang,
43 Wn.App. 656, 719 P.2d 576 (1986)6-7
Standring v. Skowhegan,
870 A.2d 128 (Me. 2005)
Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie,
149 Wn.2d 873, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)
Wilkie v. Department of Labor & Indus.,
53 Wn 2d 371, 334 P.2d 181 (1959)

World Wide Video, Inc. v. City of Tukwila, 117 Wn.2d 382, 816 P.2d 18 (1991), cert. den., 503 U.S. 986 (1992)
Younger v. City & County of Denver, 810 P.2d 647 (Colo. 1991)
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW § 51.08.01343
RCW § 51.08.178
RCW § 51.08.180
RCW § 51.32.010
RCW § 51.52.115
RCW § 51.52.140
<u>Court Rules</u> RAP 10.3
Other Authorities
Cal. Lab. Code § 335144

I. INTRODUCTION

The entry of judgment by the Superior Court in favor of appellee Football Northwest, LLC ("Seahawks") and against appellant Courtney Robinson was proper in all respects. Substantial evidence supported each of the Superior Court's Findings of Fact, and its Conclusions of Law flowed from those findings. In sum, Mr. Robinson failed both factually and legally to show he was a Seahawks employee for purposes of Washington's Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA"), and thus his request for benefits under the IIA was properly denied. Substantial evidence and governing Washington law support fully the Superior Court's decision. The Superior Court's decision should be affirmed.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Seahawks do not assign any error to the Superior Court's decision, and ask that it be affirmed in all respects.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Undisputed Facts.

The following Findings of Fact (alternatively "FOF") are not challenged by Mr. Robinson, and are therefore verities on appeal.

On April 13, 2010, Mr. Robinson injured his knee while

¹ Brief of Appellant Robinson ("App. Br.") at 4 (assigning error); RAP 10.3(g); *Moreman v. Butcher*, 126 Wn.2d 36, 39, 891 P.2d 725 (1995).

participating in an off-season "mini camp" put on by the Seahawks. CP 45 (FOF ¶2). Robinson and fifteen other potential hires had attended the mini camp by invitation from the Seahawks. CP 45 (FOF ¶3). ² Robinson was a "free agent" at the time of his invitation and participation in the mini camp. CP 45 (FOF ¶4).

Mr. Robinson tried out for at least two other teams before the Seahawks mini camp but had not been offered employment. CP 45 (FOF ¶8). ³ On or prior to April 12, 2010, the Seahawks provided Robinson with a "Free Agent Tryout Waiver" for him to review. CP 46 (FOF ¶ 12); Tr. 04/21, p. 54, ln. 20. Execution of the Free Agent Tryout Waiver is voluntary. CP 46 (FOF ¶14).

Mr. Robinson was given an itinerary for the mini camp, and was picked up from his hotel by the Seahawks and driven to the mini camp at the beginning of the day. CP 46 (FOF ¶17). After Robinson's contended knee injury, he was driven to the airport by Seahawks personnel. CP 46 (FOF ¶18).

Mr. Robinson did not gain any benefit or value by participating in

² All told, 96 players attended the mini camp: sixteen potential hires and approximately 80 players under contract. *See* Perpetuation Deposition of Seahawks Vice President John Idzik ("Idzik Dep."), p. 25, lns. 17-25.

⁻³ In fact, Robinson tried out for four separate NFL teams, not including the Seahawks, and one UFL team. *See* 2011 Trancript of Board Proceedings ("Tr.") 04/21, p. 29, lns. 7-8; p. 53, lns. 12-19 (Robinson).

the mini camp. CP 46 (FOF ¶19). Of the sixteen people (including Robinson) who attended the Seahawks' mini camp in April 2010, five were approached with employment offers from the Seahawks which led to execution of a standard National Football League ("NFL") player contract and creation of employment relationships between the Seahawks and those players. CP 47 (FOF ¶21). Robinson was not among them. *Id*.

B. Procedural History

Mr. Robinson filed an Application for Benefits with the Department of Labor and Industries on June 7, 2010, alleging he sustained an industrial injury in the course of employment with the Seahawks while attending the April mini camp. CP 44 (FOF ¶1). The Department denied the claim and affirmed its decision. *Id.* at 44-45. On October 8, 2010, Robinson filed an appeal with the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (the "Board"). *Id.* at 45. The Board affirmed the decision of the Department and denied Robinson's Petition for Review on October 7, 2011. *Id.* Robinson then appealed to King County Superior Court. CP 44. The Honorable Regina Cahan, presiding without a jury, affirmed the Board. CP 44-50. Robinson appeals.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument.

Workers' compensation benefits are provided only to "workers."

RCW § 51.32.010. In order to qualify as a "worker" under the IIA, a claimant must prove that he is injured while "engaged in the *employment of an employer* under this title, whether by way of manual labor or otherwise in the course of his [] *employment*." RCW § 51.08.180 (emphasis added). Accordingly, a claimant must prove an employment relationship between him and the putative employer in order to satisfy § 51.08.180. Mr. Robinson failed to demonstrate he satisfied that statute at the administrative level, before the Board, and before the Superior Court. Now, he seeks to have this Court reweigh the evidence for a fourth time in the hopes of obtaining a different result. However, this Court does not reweigh the evidence presented on appeal. Substantial evidence supports each of the Superior Court's factual findings and its legal conclusions flow directly from those facts. There is no basis for reversing the court below. The Superior Court should be affirmed in all respects.

B. Standard of Review.

"When deciding an appeal from a decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, the superior court conducts a *de novo* review of the board's decision but relies exclusively on the certified board record." *Cantu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 168 Wn.App. 14, 20, 277 P.3d 685 (2012) (citing RCW § 51.52.115). Appeals from the Superior Court lie as in all other civil cases. RCW § 51.52.140. Accordingly,

"review in workers' compensation cases is akin to [] review of any other superior court trial judgment[.]" *Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 151 Wn.App. 174, 180, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). "[W]here the trial court has weighed the evidence, [appellate] review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law and judgment." *Ridgeview Properties v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982) (*en banc*; bracketed text added); *Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999) (citation omitted; same). Findings of fact to which no error is assigned are verities on appeal. RAP 10.3(g); *Moreman*, 126 Wn.2d at 39.

"A party seeking to reverse a trial court's finding of fact must meet a difficult standard." *Garrett Freightlines, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 45 Wn.App. 335, 339-40, 725 P.2d 463 (1986). If "substantial evidence" exists to support the trial court's findings, they will be affirmed. *Id.*"Substantial evidence" is not a demanding standard. It is simply "evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the declared premise." *World Wide Video, Inc. v. City of Tukwila*, 117 Wn.2d 382, 387, 816 P.2d 18 (1991), *cert. den.*, 503 U.S. 986 (1992) (citation omitted); *Joy v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 170 Wn.App. 614, 619, 285 P.3d 187 (2012), *rev. den.*, 2013 WL 830001

(2013) (citation omitted).

Even though an appellate court "may view the evidence presented at trial differently from the finder of fact, [it] cannot substitute [its] judgment[.]" *Garrett Freightliners*, 45 Wn.App. at 340 (citation omitted; quotation corrected; bracketed text added for clarity). On review, this Court will view evidence "in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed in superior court" and will not "reweigh or rebalance the competing testimony and inferences[.]" *Rogers*, 151 Wn.App. at 180-181 (citation omitted). In short, when the evidence is disputed, "the standard for 'substantial evidence' is 'any reasonable view [that] substantiates [the trial court's] findings, even though there may be other reasonable interpretations." *Garrett Freightliners*, 45 Wn.App. at 340 (citation omitted; bracketed text in original).

"Questions of law and conclusions of law are reviewed de novo."

Sunnyside Valley Irr. Dist. v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369

(2003) (en banc; citation omitted). In separating findings of fact from conclusions of law, findings of fact concern "whether evidence shows that something occurred or existed," whereas conclusions of law are determinations "made by a process of legal reasoning from facts in evidence." State v. Niedergang, 43 Wn.App. 656, 658, 719 P.2d 576

(1986) (citation omitted). Labels given by the trial court distinguishing

findings of fact and conclusions of law are not determinative. *Id.* at 659. Nonetheless, although this Court may substitute its judgment for that of the Board on issues of law, great weight is given to the Board's interpretation of the law it administers. *Jones v. City of Olympia*, 171 Wn.App. 614, 621, 287 P.3d 687 (2012) (*citing Bennerstrom v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn.App. 853, 858, 86 P.3d 826, *rev. den.*, 152 Wn.2d 1031 (2004)).

For purposes of the IIA, the existence of the elements necessary to show an employment relationship is a question of fact. *Rideau v. Cort Furniture Rental*, 110 Wn.App. 301, 302, 39 P.3d 1006 (2002); *Smick v. Burnup & Sims*, 35 Wn.App. 276, 279, 666 P.2d 926 (1983). Moreover, although the Act is liberally construed "in favor of persons who come within the act's terms," (*Berry v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 45 Wn.App. 883, 884, 729 P.2d 63 (1986)), the Act's liberal construction "does not apply to defining who those persons might be" (*id.*). As demonstrated immediately below, substantial evidence supports each of the Superior Court's challenged findings of fact.

C. Substantial Evidence Supports the Findings of Fact.

Appellant Robinson has assigned error to the following factual findings of the Superior Court: FOF 5, 7, 9, 10, 11, 13, 15, 16, 20, and 22. App. Br. at 4. In his brief, Robinson fails to address how these findings lack evidentiary support. Accordingly, Robinson's challenge to the

Superior Court's Findings of Fact should be considered waived. *Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC*, 161 Wn.App. 474, 496, 254 P.3d 835 (2011) (*citing Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992); RAP 10.3) (opening brief provided no argument or analysis why challenged fact finding was not supported by substantial evidence, challenge deemed waived). The Seahawks nevertheless address each Finding of Fact in turn. Each is supported by substantial evidence.

Substantial Evidence Supports Finding of Fact No. 5
 FOF 5 reads:

The purpose of the mini-camp was for the Seahawks to see Mr. Robinson and fifteen others perform before proceeding with any offer of employment; the mini camp also gave Mr. Robinson and others an opportunity to meet Seahawks personnel and view Seahawks procedures before considering whether they wished to be employed with the Seahawks. [CP 45]

Substantial evidence in the record supports FOF 5. As to the first clause, it is undisputed that the purpose of the April 2010 mini camp was for potential players like Robinson to have "a chance to show [their] skills and talents and what [they] have" to the Seahawks staff. Tr. 05/10, p. 8, lns. 11-26 (Seahawks Defensive Coordinator Gus Bradley) (bracketed text added). Robinson agreed. Tr. 04/21, p. 53-54, lns. 26-2.

It is also clear from the record that neither the Seahawks nor

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